

FACULTY OF HEALTH AND OCCUPATIONAL STUDIES Department of Social Work and Criminology

Exploring the integration experiences of African immigrant women in the Swedish labour market.

Abdulmuminu Ahmed

2023

Student thesis, bachelor's degree, 15HEC Social Work Bachelor of Science in Social Work - Specialization International Social Work

Supervisor: Nessica Nässen Examiner: Mark Holter

Abstract

This study explores the employment integration experiences of African immigrant women in the Swedish labour market. It discusses the factors which determined the integration of the African immigrant women into the Swedish labour market. The analysis of this study reveals the hindrances and facilitators that helped and challenged the African immigrant women in obtaining and how they integrated into the Swedish labour market. The result shows that self-motivation, public institutions, networking and connections, Language skills, racial discrimination, and time consumption are pertinent factors in the integration process of the African immigrant into the Swedish labour market. The result from this study were analyzed through empowerment framework approach and the application of inductive thematic analysis. A qualitative method was used with a semi-structured interview and an open ended question.

Keywords: Integration, Immigration, Labour, Women, Empowerment.

Acknowledgment

This paperwork is specially dedicated to my late colleague (Olamide Fafiola) who in her effort contributed enormously to this paperwork. May her soul rest in peace. I would like to thank all the informants who took part in this research work and made it possible despite the hard times. I also want to give a shout-out to my family members, my dad who has always been there for me from day one of my studies and the support throughout the process. Above all, I want to thank God for life and the opportunities to come through all obstacles. Again, my gratitude goes to Brr (Mrs.) Theresa Ibas whose stands for me is to see me thrive in life. I can never be less grateful for the love and care you have shown not just to me but to many. May God continues to provide for you, protect you, and continue to see you through in life. My gratitude goes to my lovely brothers, Lieutenant Ibrahim Gambo, Alh. Ohikwo... for all their love, care, and support. May God continue to reward you all abundantly. Thank yo

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgment	4
Chapter 1- Introduction	5
1.1 Introduction	5
1.2 Migration	6
1.3 Migration policy	7
1.4 Aim and the research question	9
Research questions	9
1.5 Relevancy of the study	
1.6 SOCIAL WORK PERSPECTIVE	
1.7 Essay disposition	
1.8 Explanation of Concepts	
Immigrants	
African migrants	
Integration	
Labour market entry	13
Chapter 2	
2.1 Previous research	13
2.2 Education	14
2.3 Neighbourhood effect	
2.4 Cultural differences	15
2.5 Lack of language skills	
2.6 Lack of social capital and networks	
2.7 Discrimination	17
Chapter-3	18
3.1 Theoretical Framework	18
Chapter 4- Methodology	19
4.1 Research design	
4.2 Participants selection	
4.3 Analysis	
4.4 Limitation.	
4.5 Essay credibility	
4.51 Reliability	
4.52 Validity	
4.53 Generalization	
4.54 Ethical consideration.	
Chapter 5- Analysis and Research result	
5.2 Results: Theme 1 The Facilitating factors	
5.21 Self-motivation and personal commitment to having a better life	
5.22 Public institutions	
5.23 Networking and connections	
5.3 Theme 2: Mismatch in the new settings	
5.31 Language Skills.	
J.J. I → MII G UUG V D MII I D	

5.32 Racial and discrimination barrier	37
5.33 Time consumption in The Swedish policy	
Chapter 6: Discussion	41
6.1 Brief summary of the result	41
6.2 Theoretical Discussion	
6.3 Methodology	45
6.4 Conclusion	
6.5 Suggestions for further research	
Reference.	47
Appendices	52
Letter of consent	
Interview questions	
11101 110 11 400010110	······································

Chapter 1- Introduction

1.1 Introduction

In view of the rising uncertainties and several oppositions to migration issues in terms of its effects in many countries tthroughout the world under international migration, human mobility has become a core issue of international governance. For decades, there has been an increase in women migration due to poverty, inequalities, climate change, war, and also for the purpose of work in a feminized labour sector. This has compelled the engagement of multilateral manners (Gottardo & Cyment, 2019). Migration problems have led to harder policies both in the United States and several parts of Europe. In 2016, The United Nations General Assembly held its first-ever summit dedicated to a large movement of refugees and migrants affirming a legal instrument to protect refugees and migrants developing two new global compacts; "one on refugees and the other for safe, orderly and regular migration" which is said to be adopted in 2018 (Gottardo & Cyment, 2019, p. 67).

Nevertheless, as years unfold with the increase in humanitarian crises around parts of African and Asian continents and beyond, migrant women move and arrive in developed countries including Sweden consequently altering their individual patterns of living that affect them in various ways. These alterations influence the mode of life, manner of thinking, and well-being of migrants. Since the 1970s immigration to Sweden has been dependent on high economic performances and the demand for foreign labour (Bevelander, 2005). Millions of people around the world have taken residence in different countries with a higher percentage of women than men (Delara, 2016). Migration, however, is caused by different reasons and most women's motive for migration includes economic incentives, family reunification, education, discrimination from a gender-based society, and as well as political violence (Delara, 2016).

Sweden, not until World War II has received a great number of immigrant folks with the immigration of women dominating from different parts of the European countries and as well as African countries (Bevelander, 2005). There has been a growing literature female labour migration for decades and an increase in the migration of women in Sweden. Notwithstanding, most women face exploitation at some stages of migration, discrimination, health risk, violence, and gender discrimination deriving in

large part of social classes, race, ethnicity, sexual orientation, gender identity, and immigration status (Gottardo & Cyment, 2019). These challenges have become a large trend affecting large movements of people fleeing from their countries.

1.2 Migration

Migration is one of the growing global phenomena which has impacts on the economy, culture, demography, and politics of a state (Meyers, 2004). An estimated 175 million people in 2000 lived outside their countries of birth. Immigration is a key demographic factor in population growth in most western societies today. In 2001, the population of the EU countries rose by 1.6million with 75 percent of the growth due to net migration and it is considered important in demographic terms in the future to further increase (Meyers, 2004). Its impact has a tremendous effect on the composition and culture of a country and has become an important political issue for the past two decades in most of the western democracies; the demographic disparity and economic growth between the north and south, the collapse of the communist regimes in Eastern Europe, natural disasters and war in other parts of the world which have sent thousands into western Europe.

Sweden is known for its acceptance of immigrants worldwide and this as stated by the minister for integration Eric Ullehag, "Sweden will continue to be an open and tolerant country _" I will never compromise on this. As a liberal, I welcome immigrants regardless of whether people come to Sweden as refugees or to work or study" (Rogova, 2014, p.10). In 2019, the number of international migrants globally was 272 million (3.5% of the world population) while 116 thousand came to Sweden and Africans made up 48,710 of the population and the females consisted of 48 percent while 52 percent were male (Swedish Institute, 2020). It is a general belief that during immigration, the receiving and sending countries both benefit from the movement. Perhaps, this can justify the motive why Sweden is welcoming immigrants into their abode.

1.3 Migration policy

The varying origins and backgrounds of growing immigrants in Sweden introduced attention to minority groups. Among other things; an amendment in the Swedish constitution in 1979 stipulated that ethnic, language and religious minorities be encouraged and keep the development of cultural and social life (Lemaitre, G. 2007).

Growing unemployment among immigrants and other groups became an object of specific labour market measures. A system converting foreign educational qualifications to Swedish equivalent was another measure to integrate immigrants into the labour market.

From 1985 the Swedish immigration board responsible for handling the asylum application was assigned the responsibility for the integration of newly arrived immigrants however, the authorities practice a placement policy to avoid large concentrations of immigrants in these three metropolitan regions Göteborg, Malmö, and Stockholm (Lemaitre, G. 2007). Housing became a limiting factor as newly arrived immigrants increased in number and were placed in municipalities where housing is available, with less attention being paid to the state of the local labour markets. The responsibility for integration in 1998 and the introduction of the newly arrived immigrants were transferred to the Swedish integration board established the same year (Lemaitre, G. 2007). The integration board became responsible for disbursing and introducing allowances to municipalities and issuing general guidelines in integration, although the municipalities were responsible for implementing and directing the newly arrived immigrants.

This research however will explore the integration experiences of the African immigrant women in the Swedish labour market although with a general overview of immigration as there is little research on this topic. In the mid-1960s, policy attention was focused on immigrants coming to work in Sweden as tourist immigrants and was raising a threat to Swedish society (Lemaitre, G. 2007). The living and working conditions of the immigrants in Sweden were deemed inadequate; they had low-paid jobs and could not speak much Swedish, the cheap labour environment was feared by the trade union suggesting it might hamper the working environment. Thus, a negotiation between the trade unions, employers Organizations, and the Government. In 1968, the bill was accepted regulating tourist immigration to have a work permit upon entry to the country. It has been a subject of debate in the Swedish public how these immigrants fare economically as a subject of revolving humanitarian consideration in alleviating suffering for the immigrants. However, there are challenges that relate to a barrier which immigrants face in obtaining employment (Bevelander, P. & Pendakur, and R. 2014).

It is understood that immigrants generally face barriers in accessing employment due to moving, language, lack of social capital, and limited specific work experience in their former countries (Bevelander, P. & Pendakur, R. 2014). These challenges influenced the mode of life, manners of thinking, and well-being of the immigrants. Thus, the Swedish integration policy in conjunction with agencies such as Arbertförmedligen and SFI and other organizations are established to integrate the immigrants into society (Dahlquist & Gröndahl, 2016). Nonetheless, these institutions do little in solidifying the integration of the migrants as a result leading to the migrants striving for themselves in different integration processes including areas of employment and schooling while struggling to adapt into the new culture. These newly arrived subgroup populations faced several difficulties in Sweden establishing themselves in the labour market as unemployment is high and has triggered debates for the reasons of the immigrants' lack of success in integrating into the society (Andersson & Scott, 2005).

Migrating to a different country and mastering the language while accessing the labour market of the host countries are two essential aspects of integrating into a society (Monica, 2018). However, there has been a double disadvantage confirmed by research that migrant women have the worst outcomes when compared with migrant men and native-born women of the host country. This is however due to immigrant women facing challenges of being migrant women who often takes care of the family along with child-care obligations which hinder them (Monica, 2018).

It is a common experience that African women migrants find the problem of integration in their daily life in Sweden such as when it comes to employment and language. Although, employment support has been one of the strategies set to help African immigrant women to enter the Swedish labour market. Agencies established in the integration process for the immigrants played great roles in integrating them into the Swedish labour market through the form of activities and education so they can learn the language and find jobs. Many of the African women were able to learn the language and find jobs as quickly as possible.

The workplace is one of the vital places for social integration for the African immigrant women to get into the Swedish labour market nevertheless, due to the diversity from inter-ethnic formation and most available jobs in the host country requiring language communication affects the eligibility of employment and

integration. Human capital in the form of education and experiences, language, skills, and work experiences are not always transferable in integrating into the labour market which is not always automatically relevant to a host country thus, has prevented most of the African immigrant women from integrating and employment.

1.4 Aim and the research question

Aim

The aim of this thesis will explore the employment integration experiences of African immigrant women into the Swedish labour market.

Research questions.

- 1. What strategies do the African immigrant women use to integrate into the Swedish labour market?
- 2. What challenges do the African immigrants encountered in the process of integration into the Swedish labour market?

1.5 Relevancy of the study

This study will provide knowledge to the goal of integration with a general overview of immigration particularly in Sweden which has moved from the idea of 'public sector expansion' as in the 1950s and 1960s with the labour migrants from other countries of Scandinavian to the idea of 'a triggered wave of integration' with the diverse migrants according to Migration Policy Institute (2006) coming from different parts of Europe and other parts of the world during 1970s.

This study also will further provide knowledge of immigrant integration which is rapidly becoming a special focus in social work and plays a vital role in its service provisions and policy sectors. The issues of integration have persisted and forcefully deepen the need for understanding especially among the professional and academic social workers now in the front line. This gap will fill in the existing offering in social work by providing critical knowledge with engaging issues arising from factors in integration processes.

Researchers in Europe have been neglecting integration issues associated with migrant women focusing rather on the health and maternal mortality rates (Anderson, 2004; Esscher et. al, (2014). Ruspini (2015), studies in some ways show how more generalized migrant women are faced with linguistic and cultural issues that hinder them from socially integrating and seeking social support. The classification of the population of migrants for example in Sweden comprises European and non-European migrants. According to Ruspini (2015), over 203 individual countries of origin have no gender focus in their classification, especially women. However, the challenges for women may not be the same as those for immigrants in general. Thus, the study will focus on the perspectivesof women and fill in the knowledge gap about the African immigrant women who established themselves in the Swedish labour market.

1.6 SOCIAL WORK PERSPECTIVE

Immigration represents significant challenges not just to migrants migrating but also pose a difficult challenge to social workers engaged in the field of social services, educations, cultural mediation in promoting integration in a society. Social work is known to be a profession that enhances the integration and promoting the well-being of people. Even though, social work addresses the need of people by promoting integration, empowering, creating relational connections between immigrants' heritage, cultural diversity, and mainstream culture, it is often seen as a voluntary practice despite the complexity in promoting and enhancing the well-being of people (Erica et al. 2018).

The process of integration in promoting immigrants' successful integration for the development of multicultural society is always crucial (Erica et al. 2018). In social work, the integration of immigrant in new settings constitute an area of specialization with a full range of generic skills (Kathleen, 2007).

Despite the difficulties in the social work welfare sectors, the main goal is to promote social cohesion, individual and community empowerment, collective responsibility by empowering and increasing social participation and commitment (Erica et al. 2018). Nonetheless, due to the wide spectrum of social work, social work services constitute relevant source of support for the whole population both in public, private, formal, and informal services. Social workers participate in different settings such as (social assistant, education etc.) placing them in a position actively engaged in the integration

process of immigrants, addressing immigrants needs and necessities to those who often face lack of resources, social barriers, intolerance, and negative prejudices of their host countries (Erica et al. 2018).

The Swedish welfare system is characterized by distinctive socioeconomic and organizational aspect of social assistant structured to ensure resources allocation and support are set to meet the needs of citizens and immigrants. The Swedish integration policy in conjunction with agencies such as Arbertförmedligen and SFI and other organizations are established to integrate the immigrants into the society (Dahlquist & Gröndahl, 2016). These institutions solidify the integration of immigrants in different integration process of employment through interns, language learning so as to adapt into the new society.

1.7 Essay disposition

From the first chapter in this study, the introduction will give an insight into the research. The second chapter will start with a literature review explaining the process of immigration in view of the labour market with the aid of previous research giving readers knowledge of an overall study done on how immigrants get integrated into the labour market. The third chapter follows explaining the theoretical part of the study and will focus on empowerment. Thereafter, chapter four of the study will introduce the methodology examining the research design and include limitations and ethical considerations of the study. Chapter five comes next presenting the framework and analyzing the results of the study and lastly, a summary of the results and as well a discussion part connecting the overall research. Nevertheless, an inductive thematic network analysis method is applied in this study and finally, the research is concluded with a reference list and appendixes.

This research study was initially planned to be carried out by two authors from the beginning. However, due to the death of one of the authors, it was later carried out and finished by a lone author. The authors have both ways put in great effort in other to meet with the end result of this study by or through sending mails to the informants, carrying interviews, and coming up with the writings. The contribution of the late author in this study is to a large extent and cannot be compromised.

1.8 Explanation of Concepts

Immigrants

These are people who left their country to another country other than the one they have citizenship with the prospects of working and settling for a long period of time.

African migrants

These are first generation immigrants who migrated from Africa to a different country with the prospect of naturalization, protracting residents either temporarily or permanently from their host country.

Integration

Although Immigration and integration somewhat go hand in hand, however, there are comparative differences in the concept of the two words. Bosswick & Heckman (2006) describe integration as an interactive process between immigrants and the host society. This study will focus on this concept of integration according to Bosswick & Heckman, (2006).

However, it is of great significance to know and understand that different countries have varying criteria and yardsticks by which the host countries can assert whether or not an immigrant integrates into their society. This criterion which can range from language, culture and lifestyle, and access to social welfare, and will therefore determine when integration has been achieved in this study.

Labour market entry

The term labour market entry in this study cannot be defined based on my personal understanding of the term. However, closed attention was considered and was defined based on what the informants in this study describe to entering the labour market with respect to the context and situation. During the interview with the informants, most of them had used the word "immigrant jobs" as temporary jobs before entering the labour market which most of them term as dream jobs. The employment immigrant jobs were jobs they believe most natives do not enjoy working with. Some of the jobs were performed as internships and some while studying. These jobs were considered a starting point for them. To some of them, getting a professional job or working a full-time job is what was considered a market entry to them.

Furthermore, owning a business after the temporary or term employment "immigrant job" is also considered labour market entering and working based on a permanent job. Nevertheless, labour market entry will be referred to when immigrants gradually and over time show the same changes in the labour market outcome as the native population.

Showing the same changes in the labour market outcome can be said when the immigrant starts to take positions and becomes stable as the native population irrespective of their labour (Pinar, 2019).

Chapter 2

2.1 Previous research

In this chapter of the research regarding immigrant African women, the author will discuss the context of integration that impacts or influences the integration of immigration in the Swedish labour market in a broader perspective of immigration. In order to search for relevant literature that is in connection to the aim and research questions, the author sought previous research on databases using keywords that are closer in meaning. Using databases such as the discovery search engines at Högskolan i Gävle University (socINDEX, Google scholar) and related literature from the reference list. Some keywords such as Integration, Immigration, labour, Sweden, Women were searched with closely related meanings from each of the words linking them with the word OR on socINDEX so as to get related literature and were also selected by Title. Several pieces of literature were obtained after researching each of the terms. However, combining each term from the history with a (search with AND), no results were found. After several searches were made from history, few pieces of literature were obtained and among the few ones, only the relevant ones were sought for the study which was presented below in themes. More so, during the search, there was limited literature specifically with gender perspectives and African migrants. However, themes among education, neighbourhood effect, cultural differences, and lack of language skills, lack of social capital and networks and discrimination will be elaborated below.

2.2 Education

Several studies have shown it to be challenging in integrating immigrants into the labour market. According to Dahlstedt and Bevelander (2010), education is one of the utmost importance that can affect an individual's chances in the labour market. Most often the acknowledgment of the immigrants' education obtained abroad is problematic and gets affected by employers' uncertainties about the level and type of individual's education.

It is also found in a study by Vogiazides and Mondani (2019) that for several sociodemographic variables influencing migrants' transition into the labour market, the chances of getting into the labour market increase with the level of education. Education has however been a challenge in the outcome of integration in the labour market among immigrants in different countries including Sweden. It also shows the differences in the labour market outcomes with low employment rate and a high proportion of unemployment, and this is noticeable among migrants with secondary and post-secondary educations (Alden & Hammarstedt, 2014).

Education in this study is relevant as it is considered to be a factor that enhances the integration process of immigrants in a host country as it enables the immigrants to stand almost the same position in the labour market.

2.3 Neighbourhood effect

Another struggle of immigrant integration into the labour market is the residential environment for socioeconomic integration. Studies have shown in Sweden that residence in deprived neighborhoods hinders their labour market integration prospects. Neighbourhood effect advances the view of residence in high poverty and ethnic minorities are detrimental in the labour market (Vogiazides & Mondani, 2019). Studies put forward the negative association between residential segregation and socioeconomic outcomes that can hinder the integration of immigrant involvement in the labour market.

The concentration of immigrants in ethnic and high poverty areas can lead to an unfavorable social network which can hamper employment integration. However, studies also highlight some positive effects of immigrant integration. The neighbourhood effect provides rather a mixed result in labour market integration. A study by Musterd et al. (2008) found that living in a neighbourhood with a high

concentration of members of one's ethnic group improves the labour market integration for low-skilled migrants. It is seen that the ethnic social network and ties existing within ethnic neighbourhoods constitute a source of information, labour, and capital for the members of those ethnic communities. (Musterd et al. 2008).

2.4 Cultural differences

Most immigrant ethnic groups have different family views about males and females, wives and mothers working outside the home, household composition, family size, and value placed on children, and the education of women. All these views shape the economic circumstances which have either direct or indirect effects on behavior in the labour market. Bevelander (2005), affirmed the negative effect as it directly affects the allocation of time between home and market work among women of the same education, labour market experience.

It also affects fertility and decision on education which influences the decision of the labour market and the value of home time thus indirectly affecting the participation in the labour force among women of different ethnic groups (Bevelander, 2005). A study referred in Bevelander (2005) In a seminal work carried out by Macpherson and Stewart using the 1980 census in the United State that they found that the differences in labour force participation of women from various countries are mainly due to the transferability in differences of human capital and cultural differences with regard to market work and child, being married prior to migration is a negative correlation to labour force participation. This can be rooted in the differences where immigrants from less-developed countries are more likely to participate than comparable migrants from a host country (Bevelander, 2005). However, cultural integration regarding immigrants is an important aspect in which migrants can relate and adapt to their needs by implementing integration policies, taking account of society's ethnic and cultural differences, within the framework of available resources, services should be provided regardless of ethnic or cultural background which ensures relevant information about activities and opportunities reaches them (Rogova, L. 2014)

2.5 Lack of language skills

Language proficiency is an important factor in the integration into the labour market in Sweden and almost every part of the world. It stands as a barrier and challenges the immigrants face in integrating into the labour market (Bevelander & Pendakur, 2014).

It is one of the greatest challenges getting into the labour market and according to the European Commission, the lack of language skills is seen as a barrier to labour integration in many European countries and has been one main barrier in Sweden (Mesfin & Mamuye, 2020). Many jobs in Sweden require language proficiency which hinders the immigrants' involvement in the labour market.

Nevertheless, having a good command of the language acts as a stepping stone. Thus, in Sweden, the government came up with a language training program for immigrants. According to Bevelander and Endakur (2012), one of immigrant's farewell in a host country is due to the language training eligibility assisted by government.

2.6 Lack of social capital and networks

Social networking is another factor found that influences the integration of the labour force. Many studies indicate that migrants find their first jobs through social networking such as family members, acquaintances, or friends (Mesfin & Mamuye, 2020). It is argued by Selvi in Mesfin and Mamuye (2020) that these networks and structures are determinants for economic integration. However, humanitarian immigration tends to have fewer opportunities in social networks. They have limited networks that provide access to formal opportunities to gain employment (Mesfin & Mamuye, 2020).

In a study carried out by Ekström about the recruitment behaviour of Swedish employers, informal channels were found to be the main channel of recruitment (Cited in Behtoui, 2004). Nevertheless, personal homogeneous relations by class, ethnicity, religion, etc. of recruitment can reproduce existing inequalities.

Although, networking can be argued to be resourceful but are not distributed evenly in societies. It is said to be conceivable that social groups (gender and race) have different access to social capital (Behtoui, 2004). Thus, inequality of social capital can offer fewer opportunities for attaining or promoting a career for integration. Different sources in Sweden indicate that one of the factors hindering the inclusion of immigrants in the labour market is the lack of social networks. (Mesfin & Mamuye, 2020). Access to the use of social networks and capital is pertinent for labour market opportunities and outcomes.

However, humanitarian immigrants in Sweden are said to lack that capital and have become a good reason why migrants have deteriorated from the labour market situations in Sweden (Mesfin & Mamuye, 2020). Hiring is and has become a common strategy for network recruitment, however, migrants lack the social capital which has excluded them from integrating into the labour market (Mesfin & Mamuye, 2020).

2.7 Discrimination

Discrimination against immigrants according to the European Commission is one of the frequent obstacles to labour market integration (Mesfin & Mamuye, 2020). The opportunities and chances of getting a job according to Englund in Mesfin and Mamuye (2020) depends on one's originality, nationality, and religion as some employers prefer given jobs according to one's origin rather than their competence or high qualities.

The low level of employment of immigrants is a result of discrimination and it has been a problem immigrant's face in Swedish society. The exclusion of the immigrant from the Swedish labour market is drawn to discrimination from employers and people at the workplace and as a result, the Swedish labour market is to a large extent segregated between the natives and the foreign-born (Mesfin & Mamuye, 2020).

Research has also shown that in Swedish societies, there have been various spheres and evidence of racism, xenophobia, and discrimination against the ethnic minority with a noticeable tendency towards segregation between different ethnic groups and including in the labour market (Mesfin & Mamuye, 2020).

Chapter-3.

3.1 Theoretical Framework

This chapter of the theoretical framework for this study will focus on empowerment theory. Empowerment according to Adam (2008, p.17) is "the capacity of individuals, groups, or communities to take control of their circumstances, exercise power and achieved their own goals and the process by which individually and collectively, they are able to help themselves and others to maximize the quality of their lives". The concept of empowerment provides various strategies to guide and help immigrants in a new society to integrate into the labour market.

Empowerment is a multifaceted idea that means different things to different people. It is viewed as holistic and non-hierarchical. In this study, the Author has chosen the empowerment theory in other to understand how the African immigrant women take

control, achieve self-direction, and inclusiveness rooted in connecting with the experiences with other people and viewed individual achievement and social action since it theorizes the relationship of people with power and powerlessness in a society (Humphries & Rees cited in Adams, 2008). The definition of empowerment is not an approach that is a straightforward approach. In other words, its concept is understood in different and competitive ways. In social work, its concept challenges and points to the imperative for those who are treated most unjustly in a society and have the least to take power against injustices, people, and structures that oppress them (Adams, 2008).

It is an approach that seen as a therapeutic approach that seeks the well-being of individuals, groups, and communities in society by promoting and facilitating growth and self-fulfillment (Payne, 2014). This approach, however, guides practitioners to help in the direction of power recovery of their own or personal feelings and personal ways of life and enable them to overcome or rise above suffering and disadvantages (Payne, 2014).

Empowerment is furthermore rooted in self-help associated with political conservatism since in the 1980s. the equality-based and left-wing elements of empowerment, dramatically benefited from the movement of liberation, rights and social activism, feminism, and critiques of inequalities, strengthened by anti-racism and the oppression which arise from different social class, age, sexuality, disability, religion, culture and so (Adams, 2008). From all views of empowerment, it literally means 'becoming powerful. Nevertheless, it embraces both theory and method in social work. According to Thomas and Pierson cited in Adams, (2008, p.18) "the theory concerns how people may gain collective control over their lives so as to achieve their interest as a group and the method by which social workers seek to enhance the power of people who lack it".

Importantly, empowerment concerns participation where people play a more active part, have greater choices, exercise more power, and contribute to decision making and management (Adam, 2008). The concept of empowerment would, however, be a vital aspect in this study to provide various strategies to help and guide immigrant African women to get integrated into the labour market. Also, the concept in relation

to the aim of the study would explore the strategies of how the African immigrant women integrated into the Swedish labour market.

Chapter 4- Methodology

4.1 Research design

This research is aimed to explore the experiences of how the African immigrant women integrated into the Swedish labour market. A semi-structured interview with open-ended questions was carried out. Since the author of this research seeks an indepth understanding of the research, a qualitative method was used as it is said according to Rubin and Barbie (2010) that qualitative methods are better understood for interpreting, describing, and gaining in-depth understanding. The interview method applied in the study involves face-to-face conversation and the use of the media such as Facebook for video calls to contacting some of the participants for the research. This was as a result some of the informants could not make time for a face-to-face interview due to the pandemic and the fear of any means of contracting the Covid-19 virus. Nevertheless, the research will apply the inductive thematic network analysis method.

4.2 Participants selection

The authors of this study wanted to have a better understanding of how the African immigrant women got integrated into the Swedish labour market. For enough data to be gathered for the study, five participants were suggested for the study. However, only four were available. In the limited time frame for the study, four interviews seemed feasible to obtain enough data for the analysis. This study was carried out by two active authors from the beginning of the study, however, at one stage of the research, due to health issues, one of the authors could not further with the research and was later continued by a lone author. Nevertheless, the participants in this study were sent emails asking for their participation in the study. The participants in this study were known African immigrant women from different African countries who were one-time colleagues to the authors and are all living in Sweden and were not randomly selected. The authors suggested the participants are best suitable for the research and as such, purposive sampling was used in this study.

Purposive sampling is also known to be a judgment sample which is an informant selection tool and due to the qualities the informant possesses. It is a deliberate choice of the informant, a non-random technique that does not need underlying theories or number of informants (Tongco, 2007). Thus, the known African immigrant women seem eligible and fit the selection criteria for this study.

The data was collected through semi-structured interviews with open-ended questions using an interview guide (Kvale & Brinkmann, 2009). The semi-structured interview with an outline of open-ended questions gave the participants the ability to answer the questions in their own view of experiences rather than a yes or no answers and each of the interviews conducted lasted for about 60-80 minutes as agreed with the participants. All interviews were recorded with a digital audio device. While carrying a qualitative interview, this is important not only to collect vital words but also, to free the interviewers to keep full attention focused on the respondents (Rubin & Babbie, 2011).

In the proposed interview study, an anticipated understanding and interest as well as describing the specific questions (semi-structured questions) were used. Mails were sent to the informants on the designed study and this is mandatory according to the ethics of social work. At the beginning of the research, we had high expectations and believed that it would be easy to find interviewees since the area of interest is "African immigrant women and the labour market" however, it became very difficult and challenging due to the ongoing global pandemic. Hence, the process became time-consuming. Although the agreed mode of extracting information from the informants was through personal and face-to-face conversation. This was modified at some points in the interview stages when it became very difficult to either fix a date and time with the interviewee due to busy schedule from the interviewees and was furthered prompted by the ongoing pandemic. We had to adhere to the guidelines making us have some session over the internet on Facebook. However, the authors were able to maintain the initial structure of a "semi-structured interview" which according to Kvale & Brinkmann (2009) allows for a discussion and not a question of yes or no answer format irrespective of the platform and distance.

4.3 Analysis

The form of analysis in this study is thematic analysis. According to Kvale and Brinkmann (2009) thematic analysis helps to break down interviews by identifying, describing, organizing, and reporting themes found in the data. It is arguable that the transcription of interaction is still a necessary step needed in the analytic process because a written record of interaction provides a handy document that an observer can return to repeatedly re-read and reflect on (Leandro & Fernanda, 2019).

Although, Brinkmann (2013) stated that there is no standard form of code for transcription of a research interview. However, valuing the steps of the research process and getting to understand the researcher will come to know that qualitative research is exploratory and experimental. All four interviews were held in English. Although, despite the use of an audio device for the interview, notes were still written down. The four interviews were transcribed into written words. As Kvale and Brinkmann (2009) acknowledged, a transcript is a translation from one narrative mode into another narrative mode. For the case of this study, the author transcribed one narrative mode; the oral conversation from the interviews into another narrative mode which is the written source which later serves as a tool for the analysis of the study.

All the text was re-read separately by the authors for credibility and accuracy of the work thereafter, highlighting the sentences in order to form themes and coding. The authors went through the transcript of the interviews and marked interesting parts that were related and that meet the aim of the study. For clarity of the work, the transcript was photocopied as a document. Coding is the next phase after transcription which justifies the recurrent collection of data from the interview. During the process of the interview, some sentences and statements were mentioned repeatedly and emphasized. These conscious and unconsciously repeated words led to hints to the data intimacy which enabled easy coding of the sensitive statement. The same goes for thematizing the coded words and sentences. During the process, words are being selected, organized, and matched with other similar classes to form a body of title or subject independently. Themes were generated and later reviewed so as to ensure a broad understanding of what is to be used in the findings. Relevant findings in relation to the research aim and questions were classified into different units.

However, the coding was not conducted or identified using Atlas Ti. But rather it was framed while carefully reading and was spotted while reading.

4.4 Limitation

Due to the ongoing pandemic, it has made it difficult to reach out to the target participants for this study for interviews due to the fear of contracting the virus. It was difficult fixing a date for the interview since it requires a face-to-face interview and as a result, this took very much time in the study. The result in the study might one way be affected. As a result, during the interview, some of the participants could not explain in detail in some of the cases. The interview was held on Facebook and was recorded and written down. However, not every word was able to be grasped or written due to the limited time we had with the participants. We fear some of the vital information might also not be written. Each of the authors in this research analyzed the written answers differently in order to criticize and compare the answers obtained for the result so as to reduce biases when interpreting the result. Nevertheless, the result of this study cannot be generalized since the interviews were reached out to only four participants.

4.5 Essay credibility

When findings are to be used and utilized for a practice, evaluating the quality of the research is essential. The aim of credibility of research should outline the rigor and integrity in which research should be conducted and also ensure the credibility of the findings in relation to the qualitative research (Noble & Smith, 2015). The concept of generality, reliability, and validity associated with the study in relation to qualitative research will be elaborated. Nevertheless, Flick (2007) and Mills (2010) see the credibility for evaluating the qualitative nature of research and refer to it to the extent research is believable and appropriate and especially the agreement between the participants and the researchers.

Qualitative research is said to be often criticized when it lacks scientific rigor with the poor justification of the adopted methods, transparency in the analytical procedures, and furthermore, when the findings are merely a personal collection of opinions subjected to the researcher's bias (Noble & Smith, 2015). However, undertaking qualitative research as a novice can be challenging, demonstrating rigor due to no acceptance of the standard by which the research should be judged. Although, one way

to maximize the credibility of this study is the method of asking the participant's involvement in this study by sending letters of their consent in the study.

4.51 Reliability

This describes the consistency within an employed analytical procedure in a study (Noble & Smith, 2015). According to Kvale and Brinkmann (2009), reliability is the consistency and trustworthiness of research findings which concept concerns the replication of a study. However, in this study, the trustworthiness by the methods undertaken and dependency by the researchers was clear and transparent. Open-ended questions from interview guides were used and both researchers were involved in transcribing the interviews conducted and analyzing the findings. Again, the cross-checking of each other's work was put into practice in order to enhance the credibility of the findings. Nonetheless, the reliability of this study cannot be measured thus, can be questioned due to the interviewees' individual interpretations and opinions (Kvale & Brinkmann, 2009). The interviewees' interpretations might be inconsistent over time, perhaps due to an influence, bias of thoughts or feelings. Nevertheless, the reliability of this study is difficult to measure as a result of inconsistency.

4.52 Validity

This refers to the integrity and the application of the methods undertaken and the precision in which the findings accurately reflect the data (Noble & Smith, 2015). Recognizing the multiple realities that may exist between the researchers' personal experiences and viewpoints that may result in bias in the method in this study was put into consideration. Kvale, (2007) explains that the validation of a study rests on the quality of the researchers' craftsmanship in an investigation, continually checking, questioning, and theoretically interpreting the findings. This explanation was moreover taken into consideration when conducting the findings. Although validity in this study cannot be proof worthy due to the lack of experiences of the Authors and as a result, the study can be scrutinized and observed.

Cultural differences can be said to affect the communication between the Authors and the respondent. However, this was considerate to avoid the cultural clash. (Kvale, & Brinkmann, 2009). This was done by clearly and accurately letting the respondent respond in a way they feel safe and accurately presenting the respondents perspectives. To reduce bias during the interview, the use of a phone to record the

interview was used and the analysis was approached separately and compared the findings from the interpretation.

4.53 Generalization

One central capability of learning is taking account of a larger specific number of observations then extracting and retaining the pertinent common features which characterize the classes of the observation. However, the extent to which research findings can be generalized in a larger context or populations and in different settings can be said to be generalizing (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). Based on the personal biases and opinions from the four informants in the study, however, the result of this study cannot be generalized since it is based on a small group. As said by Kvale and Brinkmann (2009), drawing general conclusions from qualitative research is difficult although having a larger sample might be possible with the help of previous research making cautious generalizations on aspects of the same investigation.

4.54 Ethical consideration

This research is expected to follow the ethical principles that go in line with what Grinnell and Unrau (2018) advocate that includes requirements of information and consents in addition to confidentiality and the use of materials. In other words, it is the authors' duty to inform the African immigrant women's participation in the research and explain what the study is about and its purpose prior to the commencement of the interviews. The migrant women were also informed that their participation in the study was purely voluntary with their rights of interrupting their participation at any time during the course of the interview as advocated by Grinnell and Unrau (2018). The study and interview however, was carried out such that the informants cannot be known now or in the future. The data collected was protected so that no unauthorized person can have access to it. Under the requirement for use of materials in line with Grinnell and Unrau's (2018) principles, the collected material for the study is intended to be used only for scientific manners which the authors uphold to. An appendix form containing the above-mentioned principles was provided through a written Broken- English and English language and signed by the authors and migrant women before the interviews were carried out (see appendix 2).

Furthermore, in order for the informants to be anonymous, their names and names of specific areas like workplaces and parks would not be stated in this study because of

the identity protection of persons involved and since the material collected would be used solely for this particular research.

Chapter 5- Analysis and Research result

5.1 Analysis

From the result and analysis, two themes were discovered and are related to the research questions. These themes are named as the "Facilitator factors" and the "Mismatch in the new settings". These themes elaborate factors that enables and renders the participants integration into the labour market. However, there are subthemes from each of the themes obtained which represent the findings to be presented. To back up some of the findings, some quotations from the interviews are used when necessary. Information gotten in this study are all from African immigrant women from West African countries However, due to the confidentiality and ethics of this research, these African women would be assigned as informants 1, informant 2, 3, 4 respectively so as to explore their experiences of integration into the Swedish labour market.

The study shows that the African Women were able to integrate into the Swedish labour through various aspect despite the challenges. It is shown that seeking education through language learning plays a vital role in the integration process for the African women before integrating into the Swedish labour market. It has also been shown that the Swedish language stand as a prerequisite to having a dream job of interest for the African immigrant women and it is noticeably that most of the African immigrant women have a background jobs from their home countries making it challenging for them working in a different choice of interest. Education was important and realizing to the African immigrant even though it is time consuming starting from the basic level to achieving their dream jobs.

It has been shown that the motive of having a better life by motivating oneselves has helped the African immigrant women integrating into the Swedish labour market. Religious believe is a source of resilience for some of them to keep with their struggle until they are fully integrated into the labour market.

It has also been shown that the public institution for example the Arbertförmelingen and SFI plays vital role in the integration of the African immigrant women in the Swedish labour market through language learning, job opportunities, support for basic understanding in terms of securing jobs and also programs set to ease the affairs of the activities of the African immigrant women.

Networking and connection have also been shown to be a factor that facilitate the integration of the African immigrant women into the Swedish labour market. It has been shown that the networking and connection of relatives among ethnic groups, friends, and people of particular religion are valuable factors that provides great support and opportunities in navigating into the labour market.

Racial and discrimination is something done directly or indirectly towards people from different sectors either on a private or public level. The result of this study shows that the chances of immigrants from a different background being employed are slim as most of the employers preferred the natives and also employees who comply with the norms and values of the mainstream. Although, there are policies in place to integrate everyone in terms of equal right, obligations, and opportunities for all regardless of people's background. However, in this study, some of the African immigrant women have face cultural and racial barrier in integrating into the Swedish labour market

5.2 Results: Theme 1 The Facilitating factors

This theme represents the facilitator factors that enable African immigrant women to succeed in integrating into the Swedish labour market. These factors include Self-motivation and personal commitment to having a better life, Education, Public institutions, and lastly, Networking and connection. Integrating into the labour market can be seen differently depending on the individual. This also depends on circumstances surrounding the individuals. However, the author will examine the interpretation of what the participants have said which facilitates their integration.

5.21 Self-motivation and personal commitment to having a better life

While transiting the process, the African immigrant women themselves have chosen to remain self-motivated in various ways during these hard times. According to Corley & Bushra (2020), Religious faith was an important source of resilience or

staying motivated for some of the African immigrant women. Religion is rather sense as a blessing to keep holding on to and that things might change along the way. Informant 3 had said when she was asked how she found her strength during this challenging period, she had noted that

"I am a Christian and I pray. My belief might not cut across to everyone but my daily prayer kept me going. Therefore, when I am faced with challenges, I see it differently as a blessing and this keeps me going".

This response affirms (Corley & Bushra's, 2020) claims. It is important to note that many women demonstrate strength and resilience throughout the stressful migration period, one of the informants affirmed that at some point she felt she was not going to learn the language but she kept motivating herself, although the process took her time but realized the future was very important. Although the language has been a challenge but has been a positive one that has helped her integration. This informant had shown the capacity of how she recovered herself from her inner strength after the transition from her home country to Sweden. Informant 3 also noted that "Language was my strength. As I continued schooling and learning the language, I built self-confidence".

Many of the immigrant African women had migrated for a better life due to the opportunities they could get from their host country. Informant 4 said "We already had two children then, saw the opportunity and decided to come. It was planned. I would not say it was easy, I mean we faced challenges such as relocation or moving but with time it got better".

It can be seen that the African immigrant women took control of their circumstances as an incumbent who are willing to start life afresh in Sweden and also exercised power by agreeing to relocate with the family even though it is discomforting relocating especially with children. Providing all these observations, one can perceive and understand how the four interviewees have been able to take control over their circumstances, exhibit power and skillfully accomplishing their goals in order to maximize the quality of their lives upon arrival to Sweden as present citizens. It is categorically evidenced that migration brings with it many complex changes.

It is important to note that one of the aspects of industrialization is the movement of labour across the Atlantic, even though these current African women immigrants have

left their country of origin, one should not forget the benefits migrants bring when they cross boundaries. They gain the Western European labour market to produce goods and services which the industrialized countries mainly supply to other parts of the world; they open up economic opportunities for the present country (Sweden). This attribute contradicts the common view that African immigrant women are petty traders and peasant farmers fleeing overpopulation pressure. This is quite different as some African immigrant women migrate voluntarily.

According to Katherine & Donna (2016), a growing population from developing countries moved to developed countries either due to war, terrorist attack or voluntarily but the large number moved due to industrialization and urbanization which caused an increased flow of migrates into Sweden.

Despite facing some challenges, it is clearly seen in the four participants' narratives that they have achieved better language skills in Swedish and an effort to integrate into the labour market. However, some of the efforts emanate from self-effort through the idea of initiating a personal business that they have created for themselves to get into the market. Informant 3 had incorporated herself into the integration process by becoming an entrepreneur. She had said,

"I have integrated into the labour market but it is the one I created for myself. How would it have been if I did not have the business? Running the business is not what I had in mind. What I wanted to do is to work with kids/children, this, therefore, contributed to my interest in studying further in the area. But what I asked myself is that when I am done with that will I be able to penetrate into the labour market?"

This session however one of the strategies the immigrant African women is have hastened the integration process into the labour market.

5.22 Public institutions

In this session, the author will discuss public institutions (Arbertsförmedlingen and Svenska för invandrare known as (SFI) whether these organizations had played an impact role or influence the integration of the immigrant African women. These organizations highlight the perceived role played by public institutions in enabling the informants to enter the labour market. The Swedish Public institutions (Arbertförmedligen) is a Swedish governmental agency organized under the Ministry

of Employment mainly responsible for the public employment services in Sweden and the implementation of labour market policies. According to Arbertförmedligen, the organization established a support programme in the form of activities and education for certain newly arrived immigrants and the aim is to learn Swedish, find a job and become self-sufficient as quickly as possible.

The persons eligible to take part are immigrants who are 20 but under 65 years of age and have protection status or family member (Arbertförmedligen). The activities carried out in this program is that the immigrant and the employment officer together plan what activities suit one best to be able to learn the language and find a job as quickly as possible. Any immigrant can come in contact with this organization. As stated by Arbertförmedligen, some of the activities include language training if you do not have basic skills in Swedish language.

Nevertheless, Swedish for Immigrants (SFI) is an introductory course in the Swedish language and Swedish society. The programme is designed for non-native speakers who are registered as nationals, the course is divided into three category and its cost is free; in each course one will learn to communicate in Swedish, get individual study plan, get advice for study and work possibilities, learn about Swedish society and immediate surrounding and lastly compare Swedish culture with other countries (Luleå Kommum, 2020). The courses are at different level if one needs to develop or build one's skills, work experience placement, support when you are looking for work, help and guidance if you are considering starting your own business. Having a knowledge of what the organization does, it is left unknown whether or not these organizations have truly been a successful impact integrating these African immigrant women as we look deeply into the responses of the participants.

It is generally known that adult immigrants bring individual human capital in the form of education and experiences from their host country to a new country's labour market participation. Through SFI, some of the immigrant African women were able to acquire language skills that later helped them to get jobs. It is noted that without SFI, it would have been difficult to get employment. Seeking to fulfil one of the research questions, the strategies the successful African immigrant women used in integrating into the Swedish labour market, Informants 1 had said

"I will advise that when one gets here (Sweden) the first point of call should be SFI in order to get the basics at least to attain a course C or D in order to be able to find your way around the society".

In many ways, the backgrounds of the immigrants interviewed for this study laid emphasis on the Swedish Public Employment Service also known as Arbetförmedligen. Informants 1 had also said about this institution.

"Unlike Arbertförmedligen, I wouldn't say it has been so helpful but at least taught me the basics that if one is in search of a job, one has to apply to it and it does not have to be on their platform"

Looking from the response of the informant, one can attest that Arbetförmedligen played the role of serving as a support to the newly arrived African Immigrant woman by helping her understand the basics of what it entails in searching and securing a job in Sweden. On the other hand, informant 2 had also said.

"How helpful they are to you depends on how committed you are to them"

She claimed that the reason they assigned an employment officer to one is only when they know one is actively involved with them. On the contrary, why would the Swedish Public Employment Service (Arbertförmedligen) not partake in the process of integration of an immigrant since its obligation is for all immigrants and even the natives? As against one of the informant's opinion about Arbetförmedligen, Informant 2 had noted that

"I have never asked help from Arbertförmedligen so I don't personally know how it works".

This is a fallout from the organization's proposal to establish a support program in the form of activities for certain newly arrived immigrants. It is worth noting. However, informant 3 had also said,

"While for Arbertförmedligen, I know a lot of immigrants like myself that got jobs through the organization although this wasn't entirely my case. I think it is a good organization but most people I have come in contact with have had bad experiences. I acquired an education in Information Technology from them last year which can enable me to get a job in such a role"

Some positive impacts such as getting a certification in education with the Swedish Public Employment Service(Arbertförmedligen) and also that the organization is reputable but this does not bind the fact that there is an understanding of what is viewed as exclusive or inclusive according to other people's notion of their bad experience encountered with the organization which might be the case of a different informant which is her reason for never asking of help because other people's recommendation of the service which have a direct positive or negative impact of our experiences with them (Bontis et al, 2007).

On one hand, it is mentioned also that an immigrant can receive introduction benefit from försäkringskassan (the Swedish Social Insurance Agency) when they partake in the program (Arbertförmedligen) informant 1 had said

"As a credit, arbetförmedilegen has some benefits which include fixing an unemployed person into the labour market for 2 years"

The claim, however, is inconsistent because there is a claim that the natives benefit more from this as compared to immigrants. Although in Sweden, the national union and employer organization have played a key role in developing institutions for the labour market and also has the central union body (the Swedish Trade Union Confederation, LO) and its employer counterpart (the Swedish Employers´ Confederation, SAF) negotiated pay, working conditions and solution to many labour market problems (Arbertförmedligen) yet, is almost impossible to find a place of placement and a job, this has been a say from informant 2 who had difficulties with the organization.

"Arbertförmedligen played no role with getting me a job. I got a job through a friend. I have an African friend working in a restaurant who was close to the chef and the chef agreed for a practical placement".

While looking at the Swedish Public Employment Service and not entirely focusing on just one aspect of the organization in achieving labour market integration outcome, We will look into other aspects such as giving out language training if you do not have basic skills in Swedish, Swedish For Immigrants (SFI), help and guidance if you consider being an entrepreneur. In defining labour market entry for the African immigrant women, adult education plays a crucial role in the host country in order to bridge and build up new human capital-education and work exposure, different from their country of origin. Hence language learning, education, and work exposure represent a key component to smooth the integration process in the host country

(Sweet-land, 1996). As skills are necessary for effective functioning in the society and the workforce, Paying attention to the informants 1 responses,

"SFI has been of enormous help till now, I would not have been able to go on without it".

Informants 4 had also confirmed in her testimony how this organization helped her integrate fully into the society at large.

"SFI has been very helpful not only to integrate me into the job market alone but into the society as a whole because it has given me the basics that I needed to know"

It is a basic Swedish language for those who do not have Swedish as their mother tongue. The concept of attainment and job expectation can differ in both genders.

Male immigrants tend to underestimate the employment chances and income found in the host country as compared to their home countries while female immigrants have accurate and reasonable expectations of job attainment by learning the language first especially in this institution SFI so as to integrate into the society despite it being time-consuming. Informants 1 had said

"Although I worked with an English-speaking company, SFI has been very helpful not only to integrate me into the job market alone but into the society as a whole because it has given me the basics that I need to know", "Starting with SFI, it has been helpful. It is an adult education school that helps you learn the language. Personally, it has been positive and helpful" and lastly "SFI helps with how to be able to speak good Swedish and I personally think it's helpful because if you are able to learn Swedish then it's easier to enter the labour market and also get a social life".

While the aforementioned might have had similar traits and experience with the organization reverse seems to be the case for informant 2 who noted that both the employment agency and SFI had no impact on her integration story

"SFI and Arbertförmedligen played no role with me getting a job" and also "When I started SFI we were told we will be given places to do our practical placement but it

was taking long so I searched for a place myself. It was through self-effort and contact I got the job".

The description of SFI in the integration process of the four interviewees varies differently and this included references to aspects that are both positive and negative but viewed from a subjective perspective, the emphasis is played on communication which highlights language skill as the focus of the education.

This means that for the African immigrant women to be employed in the Swedish labour market, they need a knowledge of the Swedish language which the Swedish Public Employment Service offered as an affliction to SFI but attaining and learning the language is not a guarantee to being employed or getting a place for placement because the available jobs are limited while the immigrant in search of the jobs is unlimited. However, this contradicts Rydgren (2004) saying that the language problems are often singled out as the reason why the employment of migrants is avoided. Nonetheless, the importance that Sweden places on the teaching of Swedish as a foreign language is under a system of compulsory education for immigrants as a means to include African immigrant women in public adult education (Rydgren, 2004).

But it cannot be justified saying either Arbetförmediligen or SFI have not successfully played a significant role in integrating the African immigrant women even though some of the informant attainment and integration process was carried out by themselves without any help from the organizations.

More so, because people have had a bad experience after being in contact with the organization. Lindbery & Sandwall (2007) had stated that the elementary Swedish language program for adult immigrants (SFI) has been running for more than 40 years. However, it history is not one of great success in the ways the story has been told or presented in official debates. However, this ongoing study will be able to explore the experiences the African immigrant women have had and are faced with when in contact with these organizations.

A report from a nationwide evaluation of the program, undertaken by the Swedish National Agency for Education Skolverket in (1997) was ironically given the title Vem älskar SFI? (Who loves SFI?) This was an evaluation carried out about the program and this draws attention to conflicting views on the role and status of the program (Lindbery & Sandwall, 2007). Judging by the live condition or experience

and unemployment from the informants, it should be considered that the program (Arbetsförmedlingen and SFI) should meet changing labour market demands. One can clearly see that going through SFI has a positive effect both on immigrant chances of finding a job and of reaching a certain minimum income (Rydgren, 2004). African immigrant women with higher education are less important than skills in the Swedish language for improving their situation in the Swedish labour market this as mentioned by informant 2,

"One thing I have observed here is that even when you have the qualification and you are the best candidate for the job, they will give it to the Swedes who do not even have a qualification"

Denoting that language is a prerequisite over educational attainment from an immigrant country of origin. knowing that education, income, and employment is an ingredient of social inclusion, the newly arrived African immigrant women are faced with the struggle to gain employment, earn an income and stay updated in education in order to get a matching certificate that enables them to penetrate the labour market and as we all know, the certificate does depreciate over a long period. In order to meet up both the demands in the labour market and technology, the African immigrant women participation becomes high during this transition process (Adam, 2008). In order to achieve their goals and maximize their quality of life to overcome the societal norms of being allocated to the informal sector, (Andall, 2018) education plays an important role in determining the nature of job opportunities these women will hold in the labour market.

Informant 1 had said

"I will advise that when you get here (Sweden) the first point of call should be SFI in order to get the basics at least to attain a Course C or D in order to be able to find your way around the society",

This certainly fulfills one of the research questions: the strategies used by the successful African immigrant women in integrating into the Swedish labour market.

5.23 Networking and connections

Relationships possess potential benefits which facilitate the work-related activities of an individual (Wolf & Moser, 2009). Relationships with a classmate, friends,

relatives, ethnic groups, religion and so can become extremely valuable creating connections as you mature into the professional world, informant 2 said that "I kept searching and never gave up. My strength was the encouragement I got from others who had been in the same situation. They also had the same story to tell and encouraged me till I got my first job through a connection from a friend".

Growing and creating relationship networks do not start when one is almost graduating. It starts immediately as you arrive at the society. To this end, establishing a relationship with fellow relatives, ethnic groups and other immigrants outside the society provides great support and opportunities as it navigates through the labour market. It is argued by Selvi in Mesfin and Mamuye (2020) that these networks and structures are determinants for economic integration.

Networking is a form of social cooperation and collaboration among different individuals. The above informant also has referenced that comparing owning a business to being unemployed pushed and kept her going because the unemployment rate is high. This, as a result, has influenced her and at the same time enhances her connections with different individuals. The informant2 had said "My motivation has been my business and the contacts I have made over the years with people".

The network is being established in different fields as a business because similar experience, interest, and background have coined their accumulated knowledge to enhance their understanding of works of life and this stimulates mutual support among individuals.

5.3 Theme 2: Mismatch in the new settings

This theme has three sub-themes; language skills, racial and discrimination barriers, and time consumption in the Swedish policy. These themes are, however, some of the challenges the African immigrant women faced before getting into the labour market.

5.31 Language Skills

The language is one of the heads to look upon when considering integrating into the Swedish labour market. Although, considering who it favors, immigrant women from an English speaking countries are more favorable in the labour market compare to

those with no English language skills. This is due to the fact that younger or majority of the Swedish population speaks and understood English language. Nevertheless, in spite of the privileged of speaking the English language, the city of abode stand as a problem for securing a place in the labour market in Sweden and also to those having an educational background from their countries of origin. This is as a result of having the faith of working in the field of specialization which was a dream of reality to them but never happens. Informant 4 had said

"The language is a big challenge especially if one lives in a small town like Gävle. It is more challenging for those that already have education in their countries of origin because one has the intention to commence work in the area of their interest such as working in an office. The language is a big constraint compared to living in bigger cities such as Stockholm or Uppsala where one can find an English-speaking job by working with international companies".

Language is a key role in the integration process. It is hard to say what kind of information the African Immigrant women are in need of when starting a new life in Sweden. Although, it largely depends on the kind of individual the person is and the country of origin where the person is migrating from; this is due to everyone holding different perspective and knowledge about life. SFI is considered important regarding these questions as school is the first regular contact immigrants have with the Swedish society. This has caused challenges to the newly arrived immigrant women especially finding themselves in smaller cities where the possibilities of working in an intended field are challenging to those who are already used to their primary job from their countries of origin.

The language stands pertinent for easy networking and enables active participation in the labour market. It has become even more realizable as important to getting integrated even though it was time-consuming and challenging. It was a challenging one for the immigrant African women because most of them were used to working in their country of origin. Most of them had realized the importance of the language and had to start from the basics level even though it was time-consuming though realizing the future which is more important to them.

It has been a challenging one but it has been a positive one that helped them integrate.

All four participants had spoken about the importance of the language skill as a prerequisite to getting integrated into the labour market, however, one of the

informants had argued that being inside of the labour market without the language is also one of the easiest ways to learn the language and a way which spread easily social networking in the workplace through practical placement in an organization. Nevertheless, the Swedish language is one of the important factors the African immigrant women established themselves before integrating into the market in order to effectively communicate in their places of work. The Swedish language can therefore be said to be an impediment to getting into the labour market, most especially residing in a smaller city.

5.32 Racial and discrimination barrier

The view of discrimination is seen although, differently by the African immigrant women. Among these women have agreed about the ill-treatment but yet acted openminded like nothing is there. Informant 3 had said.

"The barriers and discrimination are there although we pretend like we don't see it, such as racial/racism barrier. I felt lucky later on finding myself in a company that is all-embracing and open-minded"

Discrimination within the nature of employment in Swedish societies is different in the view of the society even though every job is seen as normal in the society. However, most term jobs seen as dirty or low paid jobs can be seen done by the immigrants but for the case of the African immigrant women and most African immigrants starting up a new life, it is a starting point for most of them in integrating into the society. Informant 1 had said

Accepting what comes first by accepting those small or menacing jobs, is a step forward to integrating and not necessarily waiting until you get your dream job which may never come as you have not taken the risk of starting afresh in the new country. One good thing I admire about the Swedish economy is that there is no discrimination on the nature of jobs, to them all jobs are equal as compared to my country of origin where some jobs are termed dirty or low class compared to others.

The nature of accepting any nature of jobs is a result of the discrimination the African immigrant women faced in securing a good job due to their race as African women and their educational background from their home countries. However, most of these immigrant women lack experience in a specific job and also their inability to secure a

job that suits their previous experience, education, and career due to the language barrier. Most of the Women have been discriminated against due to the language. As a newly arrived immigrant woman in the Swedish society wanting to explore the market, the chances of getting a job even with the experience and skills will be narrow without the language. Bevelander & Pendakur (2012) in their study also agree that the language stands as a barrier and challenges the immigrants face integrating into the labour market. This is a normal situation in every work sector when it comes to easy working and easy communication among the workers.

Informants 2 quotes that

"You might have the skills and experience but if you are not able to communicate, everything goes bad and confusing. Also, cultural differences cause a lot of disagreement and misunderstanding"

Discrimination can be carried out directly or indirectly in various sectors; private or public which occurs in relation to access to work, level of payment, promotion possibilities, and working conditions (Wiesbrock, 2011). The chances of being employed by Swedish employers are often reluctant, especially within the immigrant background as the natives are largely preferred. The Swedish policy nevertheless emphasizes the values of diversity and multiculturalism although, at an individual level, employers favor employees who comply with the norms and values of the mainstream society (Wiesbrock, 2011). Under the mantra of the Swedish integration policy of equal rights, obligations, and opportunities for all regardless of the cultural and ethnic background, it is even harder for African women to get integrated into the market due to their culture and racial barriers. Most times, it is believed that African women are not capable of a particular job until they have to prove their employer wrong of the thoughts which normally non-African women or natives have to prove. Informants 2 said

"It is not easy integrating oneself into the labour market especially with the language, cultural and racial barrier. It is much more difficult for an African immigrant like us to integrate into the market because we usually have to do more and prove ourselves more in order to secure a job that a non-African or native Swedish wouldn't have to show much to get the job"

This act of discrimination is acted upon by various employers and as an immigrant from an African background in the society is more difficult for most. The ability to

learn and speak the Swedish language is believed to be a key aspect of integration. Informant 1 had agreed on this and she had said, "I think as long as you speak the Swedish language, finding a job will be easier" nevertheless, this cannot be concluded for all the cases for most of the African women. Some of them believe even with the ability to speak the language, it is not guaranteed to be integrated into the labour market except through connections.

Informant 3 had said.

"The first discrimination is the language. The other discrimination is because we came from an African background, we are being looked down on our capability in the labour market so, jobs are usually given to the natives, this they are aware of too. Getting a job is through contact then it will be generally difficult to immigrate to get such contact as a new incumbent in the society. I have had friends who are able to speak the language but it is still impossible to secure a job especially if one is aiming at jobs that are not tagged as immigrant jobs"

5.33 Time consumption in The Swedish policy

The Swedish welfare system was open mainly for those who lived in the country which carries the responsibility of providing public services. This service is also applied to the registered and accepted immigrants who immigrated to work in Sweden and have same rights and regulation as everyone. However, there had been an introduction of restrictions in the 1960s for the labour immigrant into Sweden where immigrants need to obtain a labour permit before their arrival into the country.

Although, the market was open to the Nordic immigrants (Alden, L. & Hammarstedt M. 2014), however, opportunities in the labour market gained increased especially for Africans and middle eastern since the mid-1990s. Scierup et al., reported in Alireza, B. (2004) that many of the immigrants who arrived before the mid-1970s in Sweden got jobs in the labour market in low qualifications segment such as the industrial sectors and was further said even when they had almost the same educational level as the natives. African Immigrant 1had said,

"Integrating into the labour market is draining; irrespective of your qualification one is still limited to a particular type of job; immigrant jobs such as cleaning as compared to my home country where one has access to the job market. The process and time of having to wait till you learn the language, gather experience from odd

jobs, etc...is time-consuming with the intention to find your dream/interest job someday"

In the context of the Swedish welfare towards the immigrants in the country, it is noted that the African immigrant women all agree on the basis that the policy supports the integration of immigrants (women) on the Swedish labour market. However, there have been concerns to improve the policy towards getting integrated as it is really time-consuming. The language which stands as a prime before getting fully integrated into the labour market for example spending few years to learning the language is time consuming for some of them with educational background from their own country. Informants 4 had said

"I had gone to school for immigrants (SFI) for almost two years just to learn the language and it is really time-consuming for me"

This is due to the circumstances that immigrants have to learn the language so as to find themselves in their interest jobs. Nevertheless, before getting integrated and being able to speak the language, it really takes a lot of time. Measuring the Swedish integration policies in an overall ranking by the Migration policy group in 2006, Sweden was at a top mark of 88 out of 100 points, scaling from the unfavorable policies to the best policies (Cited in Wiesbrock, 2011). The indicators which scored Sweden best practices in respect of the labour market integration includes labour market access, security of employment, labour market integration measures, and the rights associated with employment scoring more points than other countries included in the ranking making her the most favorable policies for promoting integration by the Migration Policy Group (Wiesbrock, 2011).

According to the Swedish Integration Policy, it recognizes an overall strategy that identifies several areas and is seen as a faster introduction for new arrivals, more in work, more entrepreneurs, better language skills, adult education opportunities, and effective anti-discrimination measures. The policy goals are to be achieved for the introduction of newly arrived immigrants. Nevertheless, the process according to the African immigrant women, which they established themselves before getting integrated into the Swedish labour market, is a long process and is said to be taken into consideration.

Chapter 6: Discussion 6.1 Brief summary of the result

This research studied the experiences of African immigrant women in the Swedish labour market. The result of the study is drawn from many factors before the African immigrant women integration, for example, Motivation, Networking, connections, Language, Discrimination, and other factors like the public institutions which play a vital role in the integration process in integrating the immigrants to their best abilities. However, it will be important to note that both the institutions and the migrants have had a greater role in the integration process. Furthermore, from the research questions, it will be wrong to admit that most immigrants had face a lot of challenges in their host country even when most of the them have the aspiration of traveling for a better life. They face a lot of discrimination which can be discouraging in the process of involvement.

The result of this study was explored and was from the point of view of the informants, different factors, however, had enabled and challenged the integration of the African immigrants before their integration into the labour market. There are no general differences among the informants, however, the result supports the claim of Corley and Bushra (2020) of how African immigrant women demonstrate strength and residence through motivation.

Motivation in this study is a facilitator factor that had helped keep the African immigrant active in their integration. Migration to a different country can be challenging. However, the African immigrant women have chosen to motivate themselves and challenge their fear by drawing on religious beliefs, that God is always with them and will keep them progressing in the new phase of life even though it was not an easy task. The beliefs of the opportunities compared to their countries were worth moving on for a better life. The decision to migrate to a different country also stands as an expectation for many immigrants. A study carried out among immigrants from Cameroon shows that some immigrants migrate with the expectation of their host countries with a mix of economic motivation, having the opportunities of having a job, and as well improving the income situation (Fleischer, 2007).

Networking and Connection are seen as a form of social cooperation and collaboration among individuals and have been established within experiences,

interests, and background of knowledge and understanding of works of life to stimulate mutual support among immigrant women. Networking and connection are some of the facilitator factors which has provided opportunities to the African immigrant women into the Swedish labour market. Even when discrimination was put into account for the less favorable employment outcomes for the immigrants, it was claimed in research by George Lemaitre, (2007) that employment is not found through formal means but also through networking or contacts from friends and relatives. These contacts which he also argued that the path can be more extensive even for natives of a country than it would be for immigrants in the early years. Network of local connections and contacts develop over time, though not always to the extent of a native-born. This feature of labour market can reinforce the adverse effect of employments uncertainty and reticence existing regarding the hiring of immigrants (Lemaitre, 2007).

Language and discrimination are seen as challenging factors but importantly, the brighter side of the future lies within the language skills even when learning is timeconsuming. Although, Discrimination has always been a setback among immigrants in their host countries. It can be confirmed and noticed that most of the African immigrant women were discriminated against before and after getting integrated. A study carried out by Mesfin and Mamuye, (2020), shows that the low level of employment of immigrants is as a result of discrimination which the African women also acknowledged that it was one of the challenges immigrants face in Swedish society. The author of this study, however, attests to this claim as many of the African immigrant women have also agreed about the ill-treatment they faced before integrating. In the same study by Mesfin and Mamuye (2020), language proficiency is seen as an important factor in the Swedish labour market. This is a fact that the European Commission sees language inability as a barrier to the labour market in many countries, in Europe, and has been a barrier in Sweden as well. In this study, language is seen as a barrier to integration in Sweden. However, most of the African immigrant women from English-speaking countries are, although favorable in the Swedish labour market since most Swedes speak the English language and some employment accepts English language applicants. In spite of the privilege of speaking English, it can be problematic depending on the residence. This can also be confirmed in a study that the neighbourhood in Sweden hinders the labour market in integrating the immigrants. (Vogiazides & Mondani, 2019).

Discrimination in this study is one of the challenges the African immigrant women have encountered in the process of employment integration. Although, one cannot deny the issues which are in the form of discrimination, however, The immigrant's entering a labour market can be seen similar to that of the natives new to or when reentering to a labour market. Studies have shown various conditions that can hinder the economic integration of immigrants in a country. In a study by Bevelander (2005), he noted that the skills and knowledge of a labour market are not perfectly transferable between countries and that immigrants are less productive, experiences high labour market turnovers, have lower employment rates and lower wages considering their education during their first period in a new country. The level of the country's skills, for example, the language skills, experiences or human capital can be disadvantages in immigrant economic integration (Bevelander, 2005). In this study, it is noted, some of the African immigrant women had gone through and experienced this claim. However, the immigrants get to adjust with time to the new labour market and society through the investment that modifies skills and acquiring new skills (Bevelander, 2005).

The Swedish policy is considered one of the nightmare experiences for the African immigrant women in their process of employment integration. Although, the implementation of various policies aimed to ease the adaptation of the immigrant in the Swedish labour market, the welfare system which influences the economic integration of the African immigrant women was considered time-wasting and to some extent cause difficulties seeking employment. It was argued that due to the relative increase of immigrant since the mid-1980s, there has been an increase in institutional discrimination, the integration policy and labour market policy measured towards immigrant have shown to be ineffective and to an extent have caused a prolonged time spent outside the labour market causing stigmatization (Bevelander, 2005).

6.2 Theoretical Discussion

The author in this research chooses to explore how the African immigrant women integrated into the Swedish labour market using the empowerment theory as a framework in the study. Although, the concept of empowerment is seen as a multifaceted idea that is defined differently by different people. However, it is describe to mean "becoming powerful" (Adams, 2008). This concept has played a

great role in this study. It has played a role in the facilitator's factors for example, the public institutions functioned as an empowerment to the African immigrant women following the institutional agents such as the arbertfemilngen and SFI in respect to work and language learning. Aslan, (2019) in her study had claimed that the principle of activation of immigrants in a welfare state context should be interpreted in a holistic sense and the living conditions and personal definition are considered.

The public institutions is an empowerment project in place in empowering newly immigrants in the society which has functioned in supporting the African immigrant women in entering the job market and as well empowered them in their language skills. Institutional support is said to be incorporated systematically in public administration to neutralized individual and structural disadvantages so public officials can provide social capital on a general basis rather than random basis (Aslan, P. 2019).

The Swedish labour market programs are empowered by controlling and discipline mechanism which involves higher eligibility requirement, low-level benefits, and more sanctions (Bengtsson & Berglund cited in Aslan, 2019). This, however, has transformed the Swedish welfare state by the introduction of the workfare reform and has played a vital role in determining how unemployed people are met and responded to. This social welfare reform has one way empowered and supported the African immigrant women to become better through the institutional program.

6.3 Methodology

The informants in this research worked in different sectors of work and were asked questions regarding their specializations although the same question for different people. We were able to interview four of the African immigrant women which can be regarded as a huge strength to support the study. However, one of the weaknesses of this study can be drawn from the time frames for the interviews. Due to the ongoing pandemic, before the interview, it was difficult to reach some of them. Most of the days fixed for the interviews were always procrastinated by the informants which took so much time before getting to interview them all making the informants rush the interview. Nevertheless, we were able to interview all of them and the interviews were face-to-face interviews and as well through Facebook. This strengthens the study as the whole informants were able to be interviewed and the

four interviews was seemed reliable. The author believes the strength gathering information from the informants will be enough for the study. Attentiveness was prioritized during the interview as notes was also taken down for future usage. This idea of taking notes helps strengthen the study when transcribing. Most of the answers from the participants met the expectations of the research.

6.4 Conclusion

From the result of this study, it can be drawn that both organizations SFI and Arbertförmedligen have played different roles in the lives of each of the informants. All these aforementioned formed the perspectives of the immigrant women about the organization. Extracting the informants' experiences from the interview has been comprehensively exploratory. It shows the trend on the challenges faced and the strategy used in successfully integrating into the Swedish labour market. From the analysis of the result, both characters have played an important role in the integration of immigrant women into the labour market. Although, it still has its weaknesses. The analysis shows that most of the Immigrant African women experienced difficulties before integrating into the Swedish labour market. Education plays a key role as language is considered very pertinent in terms of obtaining employment. The analysis shows that job opportunities can easily come from relatives, members of an ethnic group in the form of networking. It can also be said that the ranking order by education, human capital backgrounds that appears in the result is a reflection of discrimination in the sense that the immigrant African women are treated differently for reasons other than their capability and productivity.

6.5 Suggestions for further research

The findings that emerged from this study were generated by interviewing only four successfully integrated African immigrant women about their experience in the Swedish labour market. The author suggests that it would be interesting to see if this study can be reproduced, however from a different perspective that compares the different ethnicity groups making up the participants' populations, and examines the similarities and differences that could be found in the exploratory study.

Reference.

Adams, R. (2008). Empowerment, participation and social work (4th ed.).

Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

Aldén, L., & Hammarstedt, M. (2014). *Integration of immigrants on the Swedish labour market: recent trends and explanations*. Linnaeus University.

Anderson, G. (2004). Childbearing after migration: Fertility patterns of foreign-born women in Sweden. *International migration review*, 38(2), 747-774.

Andersson, G., & Scott, K. (2005). Labour-market status and first-time parenthood: The experience of immigrant women in Sweden, 1981–97. *Population Studies*, *59*(1), 21-38.

Andrew Corley & Bushra Sabri (2020) Exploring African Immigrant Women's Preand Post-Migration Exposures to Stress and Violence, Sources of Resilience, and Psychosocial Outcomes, Issues in Mental Health Nursing, DOI:

10.1080/01612840.2020.1814912

Arai, M., & Vilhelmsson, R. (2004). Unemployment-risk differentials between immigrant and native workers in Sweden. *Industrial relations: a journal of economy and society*, 43(3), 690-698.

Arbetsformedlingen. Sweden's Security System: Unemployed with Unemployment Insurance. https://arbetsformedlingen.se/for-arbetssokande/arbeta-i-sverige/sveriges-trygghetssystem (retrieved on the 8th of Octorber 2020).

Arbetsförmedlingen. The establishment programme.

https://arbetsformedlingen.se/other-languages/english-engelska/extra-stod/att-delta-i-program/etableringsprogrammet (Retrieved on the 8th of October, 2020).

Aslan P. (2019). Perspectives on labour market participation among descendants of immigrants in Sweden. *Department of social work*

Behtoui, A. (2004). Unequal opportunities for young people with immigrant backgrounds in the Swedish labour market. *Labour*, *18*(4), 633-660.

Bevelander, P. (2005). The Employment Status of Immigrant Women: The Case of Sweden 1. *International Migration Review*, *39*(1), 173-202.

Bevelander, P. (2010). The immigration and integration experience: The case of Sweden. *Immigration Worldwide: Policies, Practices, and Trends*, 286-302.

Bevelander, P., & Pendakur, R. (2014). The labour market integration of refugee and family reunion immigrants: A comparison of outcomes in Canada and Sweden. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 40(5), 689-709.

Bontis, N., Bart, C., Wakefield, P., Booker, L. D., & Serenko, A. (2007). The mediating effect of organizational reputation on customer loyalty and service recommendation in the banking industry. *Management decision*.

Bosswick, Wolfgang and Heckman, Friedrich (2006). "Integration of Immigrants: Contribution of local and regional authorities". Retrieved from

 $\underline{https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/sites/default/files/ef_publication/field_ef_document}/ef0622en.pdf$

Borevi, K. (2014). Multiculturalism and welfare state integration: Swedish model path dependency. *Identities*, 21(6), 708-723.

Brinkmann, S. (2013). Qualitative interviewing. Oxford university press.

Burns, A., & Roberts, C. (2010). Migration and adult language learning: Global flows and local transpositions. Tesol Quarterly, 44(3), 409–419.

Chiswick, B. R., & Miller, P. W. (2009). The international transfer-ability of immigrants' human capital. Economics of Education Review, 28(2), 162-169.

Corley, A., & Sabri, B. (2020). Exploring African Immigrant Women's Pre-and Post-Migration Exposures to Stress and Violence, Sources of Resilience, and Psychosocial Outcomes. *Issues in mental health nursing*, 1-11.

Crock, M. E. (2001). Contract or compact: Skilled migration and the dictates of politics and ideology. *Geo. Immigt. LJ*, *16*, 133.

Dahlquist, O., & Gröndahl, O. (2016). Digitala hjälpmedel i integrationsprocessen: En studie om hur Uppsala kommun använder digitala hjälpmedel vid etableringen av nyanlända.

Donlevy, V., Meierkord, A., & Rajania, A. (2016). Study on the diversity within the teaching profession with particular focus on migrant and/or minority background. Education and Training. ECORYS; EU Project

Esche, A., Binder-Finemang, P., Badkar, B., Högberg, U., Mulic-Lutvica, A., & Essén, B. (2014). Suboptimal care and maternal mortality among foreign-born women in Sweden: maternal death audit with application of the 'migration three delays' model. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*, *14*(1), 141

Fleischer, A. (2007). Family, bonds, and migration: The role of kinship in Cameroon. *Demographic research*, *16*, 413-440.

Flick, U. (2007). Managing Quality in Qualitative Research. Retrieved from https://dawsonera.com/

Frankfort-Nachmias, C. & Nachmias, D. (2008). Research methods in the social sciences (8th ed.). New York: Worth Publishers.

Gerdes, C., & Wadensjö, E. (2013). *Immigration to Sweden from the new EU member states*. Swedish Institute for European Policy Studies (SIEPS).

Gottardo, C., & Cyment, P. (2019). The Global Compact for Migration: what could it mean for women and gender relations? *Gender & Development*, 27(1), 67-83.

Grinnell, R. M., & Unrau, Y. A. (2018). Social Work Research and Evaluation: Foundations of Evidence-Based Practice (Vol. Eleventh edition). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

Gumisai Mutume (2006). African migration: from tensions to solution. Retrieved on the 2nd of October from https://www.un.org/africarenewal/magazine/january-2006/african-migration-tensions-solutions.

International Labour Organization (2017). World Employment Social Outlook.

Trends for women. Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/global/research/global-reports/weso/trends-for-women2017/lang--en/index.htm

Jacqueline Andall (2018). Economic Development in Africa Report 2018: *Migration* for structural transformation. Retrieved from

https://unctad.org/en/PublicationsLibrary/edar2018_BP1_en.pdf

Katharine M. Donato, & Donna Gabaccia. (2016). *Gender and International Migration*. Russell Sage Foundation.

Kvale, S. (2007). Doing Interviews. London: SAGE Publications.

Kvale, S. & Brinkmann, S. (2009). Interviews: Learning the craft of qualitative research interviewing (2nd ed.). Los Angeles: SAGE Publications.

Leandro & Fernanada (2019). RAUSP Management Journal. "The interviews were transcribed" but how? Reflection on management research. Retrieved from https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/RAUSP-05-2019-0092/full/html

Lemaître, G. (2007). The integration of immigrants into the labour market: The case of Sweden.

Louie, V. (2012). *Keeping the immigrant bargain: The costs and rewards of success in America*. Russell Sage Foundation.

Lindberg, I., & Sandwall, K. (2007). Nobody's darling? Swedish for adult immigrants: A critical perspective.

Lulea Kommum. Swedish for Immigrants (SFI)

https://www.lulea.se/download/18.2f66458613c1bbd3d3d10da/1357831136506/SFI_engelska.pdf (Retrieved on the 8th of October, 2020).

McKenzie, D., Gibson, J., & Stillman, S. (2013). A land of milk and honey with streets paved with gold: Do emigrants have over-optimistic expectations about incomes abroad? Journal of Development Economics, 102, 116–127.

McNaughton, C. (2008). *Transitions through Homelessness*. Palgrave Macmillan. Migration Policy Institute, (2006). Sweden: Restrictive Immigration Policy and Multiculturalism. https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/sweden-restrictive-immigration-policy-and-multiculturalism/ (accessed on 16 May 2020, 6: 35 am).

Mills, A. (2010). Encyclopedia of Case Study Research. SAGE Publications. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412957397.n91

Monica Li, (2018). Integration of migrant Women. European Commission. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/migrant-integration/feature/integration-of-migrant-women Mutume, G. (2006). African migration: from tensions to solutions. *Africa Renewal*, 19(4)

Musterd, S., R. Andersson, G. Galster, and T. M. Kauppinen. 2008. "Are Immigrants' Earnings Influenced by the Characteristics of Their Neighbours?" Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space 40 (4): 785–805.

Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-based nursing*, *18*(2), 34-35.

Payne, M. (2014). Modern social work theory. Oxford University Press.

Persson, H. T. R. (2006). Swedish integration policy documents: a close dialogic reading (Doctoral dissertation, University of Warwick).

Raghuram, P. (2008). Migrant women in male-dominated sectors of the labour market: a research agenda. *Population, space and place*, *14*(1)

Rogova, L. (2014). *The key to integration? A study of language as a policy strategy for social integration of immigrants in Sweden* (Doctoral dissertation, Master's Thesis, Lund University).

Rubin, A. & Babbie, E. (2010). Research method for social work, 7ed.

Brooks/Cole; Cengage Learning.

Ruspini, P. (2015). Elderly migrants in Europe: the need for ad hoc research and tailored policies - A Swedish case study: care for elderly migrants in a modern welfare state.

Rydgren, J. (2004). Mechanisms of exclusion: ethnic discrimination in the Swedish labour market. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, *30*(4), 697-716.

Statistics Sweden. (2016). the Statistics Database.

http://www.statistikdatabasen.scb.se/pxweb/sv/ssd/ (Retrieved from 4th October, 2020).

Susan K. Brown, & Frank D. Bean, (2006). Assimilation model, old and new: Explaining a long-term process. Retrieved from

https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/assimilation-models-old-and-new-explaining-long-term-process/

Swedish Institute (2020): *Sweden and Migration*. Retrieved 28th August 2020 from https://sweden.se/migration/#2015

Sweetland, S. R. (1996). Human capital theory: Foundations of a field of inquiry. Review of Educational Research, 66(3), 341–359

Tongco, M. D. C. (2007). Purposive sampling as a tool for informant selection. *Ethnobotany Research and applications*, *5*, 147-158.

UNHCR: *Current dynamics of displacement*. Retrieved 29th August 2020 from https://www.unhcr.org/4444afc50.pdf

Vogiazides, L., & Mondani, H. (2020). A geographical path to integration? Exploring the interplay between regional context and labour market integration among refugees in Sweden. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 46(1), 23-45.

WHO (2019). Migration and health: key issues http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/health-determinants/migration-and-health/migration-and-health-in-the-european-region/migration-and-health-key-issues (accessed on 16 May 2020, 9:15 am).

Wiesbrock, A. (2011). The integration of immigrants in Sweden: a model for the European Union?. *International Migration*, 49(4), 48-66.

Wolff, H.-G., & Moser, K. (2009). Effects of networking on career success: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *94* (1), 196-206.

Appendices

Letter of consent

Dear Ma,

We (Abdulmuminu and Olamide) are third year students in the bachelor's degree program, International social work at the University of Gävle. We are currently writing our thesis on African immigrant women's experiences of integration in the Swedish labour market. The purpose of this letter is to request you to take part in the interview with us about your personal experiences. The interview will take a maximum of 30 minutes; however, this interview is regarded as voluntary participation. Nevertheless, we will deeply appreciate your participation in the study. Regarding this, if there is any question you can kindly contact us through our phone numbers through 0760645008 or 0734862426. We would also like you to bear in mind that the information shared during the interview will be kept confidential and will only be used for the purpose of the study according to the ethics of social work. Yours sincerely,

Abdulmuminu and Olamide.

Interview questions

- 1 We know that organizations such as SFI and Arbetförmedligen are organizations assigned to help immigrants integrate into the society and as well into the labour market. How have these organizations worked for you to get integrated/have they been helpful or not?
- 2 What are the things that are required of you before integrating into the labour market?
- 3 What are the things that are required of you before integrating into the labour market?
- .4 What can you say are the challenges/barriers being integrated into the labour market?
 - 5 How have these challenges affected your mood in life?
- 6 How did you find strength during this challenging period?
- 7. In the area of being integrated, you have had previous work experiences coupled with your current employment, are there any social benefits?

- 8. What strategies did you put in place at the initial stage of migration and after, that worked for you and helped your integration into the labour market.
- 9 How is it for you to be integrated into the Swedish labour market?
- 10 What are the challenges and barriers to getting into the labour market?
- 11. SFI and Arbertförmedligen are organizations set up to help immigrants integrate into society, especially into the labour market. Have they been helpful to you?
- What can you say is the pertinent aspect of getting integrated into the Swedish labour market?
- How did you find yourself in the labour market? Did you get help from people?
- 14. According to previous research, integrating into the labour market can be hard for immigrants. How did you find strength?
- 15. Comparing your integration process in Sweden against your country of origin, is it the same?
- 16. Having gone through all these challenges, what other strategy did you employ aside from learning the language?